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The Directors present their Annual Report together with the Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report 
of the charitable company (referred to thereon as “Avanti Schools Trust”) for the period 1 September 2020 to 31 
August 2021. The Annual Report serves the purpose of both a Trustees’ Report and a Directors’ Report under 
company law. 
 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 to the accounts and 
comply with the charitable company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Companies Act 2006, the 
Charity Commission's document ‘Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by the 
ESFA. 
  

Introduction 
The Academy Trust operates 11 schools (free schools and academies) in the London Region, South-West and 
Midlands. Its academies have a combined pupil capacity of 6,990 and had a roll of 4,794 in October 2021. 
  

Structure, governance and management 

Constitution 

Avanti Schools Trust is a Multi-Academy Trust, a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The 
charitable company’s memorandum and articles of association are the primary governing documents of the 
Academy Trust. The trustees of Avanti Schools Trust are also the directors of the charitable company for the 
purposes of company law. 
 
Avanti Schools Trust was incorporated on 26 January 2011 and obtained Academy Status from 1 August 2011. 
The Trust obtained Multi-Academy Status from 9 August 2012. 
 
The charitable company operates as: 
 

• Avanti House Secondary School 

• Krishna Avanti Primary School, Harrow 

• Krishna Avanti Primary School, Croydon 

• Avanti Court Primary School 

• Krishna Avanti Primary School, Leicester 

• Avanti House Primary School 

• Avanti Fields School 

• Avanti Gardens School 

• Avanti Hall School 

• Avanti Park School 

• Avanti Meadows School - Opened 1 September 2021 

 

Members' liability 

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in the 
event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceased to be 
a member. 
  

Directors' indemnities  

The company subscribes to the Risk Protection Arrangements (RPA) provided by the DfE. The RPA provides 
Governors Liability which includes Directors within its definitions. 
 



 

AVANTI SCHOOLS TRUST 

 

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2021 

 

 

 
- 4 - 

Method of recruitment and appointment or election of Directors 

Members and Directors 
 
The first members of the Academy Trust were the signatories to the Memorandum. Subsequent members of the 
company shall comprise any person appointed under Article 15A. 
 
The number of Directors shall not be less than three but (unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution) shall 
not be subject to any maximum. 
 
Subject to Articles 48-49 and 63, the Academy Trust shall have the following Directors: 
a. up to 15 Directors, appointed under Article 50; 
b. any Staff Directors, if appointed under Article 50AA; 
c. the Chief Executive Officer, if appointed under Article 50B; 
d. Academy Directors appointed under Article 51 or Article 52; 
e. a minimum of 2 Parent Directors appointed under Articles 53-56, in the event that no Local Governing Bodies are 
established under Article 100a or if no provision is made for at least 2 Parent Local Governors on each established 
Local Governing Body pursuant to Article 101A or on any Advisory Body. 
 
The Trust may also have any Co-opted Director appointed under Article 58. 
 
The term of office for any Director shall be 4 years, except for the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 
  

Policies and procedures adopted for the induction and training of Directors 

 
During the period under review the Directors held regular meetings. The training and induction provided for new 
Directors will depend on their existing experience. All relevant Directors are provided with copies of policies, 
procedures, minutes, accounts, budgets, plans and other documents that they will need to undertake their role as 
Directors. As there are normally only a few new Directors in a period, induction tends to be done informally and is 
tailored specifically to the individual. 
  

Organisational structure 

The Board of Directors is the Legal Governing Body of every Avanti school and has ultimate accountability and 
legal responsibility for all Avanti schools, including all the statutory responsibilities of school governors and 
accountability for the quality of educational provision and school effectiveness. 
 
The Board of Directors has appointed the following committees: Remuneration, Audit & Finance, Standards. The 
Board of Directors has also appointed School Stakeholder Committees (SSCs) for each Avanti school. SSCs 
provide perspectives from various stakeholder groups (staff, parents and the wider community) on the day-to-day 
functioning of the school in order to support the school's work. SSCs are not delegated any powers of the Board of 
Directors and do not carry any statutory responsibilities. Avanti schools do not have local governing bodies. 
 
The Directors delegate the day-to-day responsibility of running the Academy Trust to the senior management team 
led by the Chief Executive Officer. The day-to-day running of individual academies is delegated to the senior 
leadership team, led by the principal. 
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Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel 

The setting of pay and benefits must represent good value for money and take into account market factors and the 
performance of the trust (both financial and non-financial). In setting the pay and remuneration of the academy’s 
trust key management personnel and any benchmarks, parameters or criteria used in setting their pay, the Avanti 
Schools Trust Central Team & School Support Staff Pay Policy is used. All roles in the trust have been through job 
evaluation and assigned a grade and scale as a result. A Pay Decision means any decision by a Decision Maker 
listed to award a pay rise or to not award a pay rise in respect of an employee. 
 
Executive pay is determined by the Remuneration Committee, which is a sub-committee of the Board. The 
membership of the committee does not include any employees and there are no conflicts of interest. Trust 
Executive pay decisions are recommended to the Committee by the CEO. For decisions regarding the CEO’s pay 
the Trust Chair makes recommendations to the Committee. 
 
Annual targets are set for each of the directors and these are reviewed in an appraisal cycle along with the 
employees self-review and any other evidence deemed necessary. This appraisal is carried out by the CEO or 
Trust Chair (for AST CEO). Based on this appraisal a recommendation for progression will be made in line with the 
pay policy. 
 
In addition to the Remuneration Committee, implementation of this policy is monitored by the HR team and board in 
particular concerning any equality or diversity issues. Each year the HR team will recommend to the Committee 
any company-wide pay scale increases (% based). This is based on government recommendations, inflation and 
discussions with other academies. 
 
The above process was discussed with the DfE last year and they were satisfied with the method undertaken. 
 
 

Trade union facility time 

 

Relevant union officials  

Number of employees who were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period 

 

- 

 

Full-time equivalent employee number  -  

 

Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of employees  

0% -  

1%-50% -  

51%-99% -  

100% -  

 

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time  

Total cost of facility time -  

Total pay bill -  

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time  -  

 

Paid trade union activities  

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility time hours 

 

- 
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Engagement with employees 

The engagement of our employees at AST is fundamental in all the work we do. All staff members are inducted at a 
school level and attend a trust-wide induction. During this induction, the company ethos and goals are discussed. 
We spend time looking at The Avanti Way and what this means for employees and how we share this common 
vision for all staff and schools. We use videos and testimonials of current members of staff. 
 
We hold annual wellness retreats, and this is an opportunity for us to develop the common awareness on the part 
of all employees of the factors affecting the performance of the company. We also hold an annual whole staff 
conference for staff to network, connect and align further with the ethos. 
 
Individual targets, performance management and appraisals are aligned with trust performance targets. The trust is 
aware that each of our schools has unique characteristics and we work closely with our Principals to ensure that 
their needs, as well as the trusts, are met. 
 
We operate an open-door policy within our senior leadership team and welcome feedback from all levels of 
employees. Several CPD programs have been set up to develop employees in the company including a Women in 
Leadership program. All trust policies are easily accessible on the HR intranet and we aim to work on updating the 
communications we publish here. 
 
Employee engagement surveys are completed at the school level to gain an understanding of how employees feel 
working in the Trust. We have planned to complete a large company-wide employee survey in the first term of 
20/21. This survey will cover the following areas, Employee Engagement, Active Leadership, Future & Strategy, 
Communication, Teamwork, Learning & development, Job Fulfilment, Continuous improvement, and Group 
reasonability. 
 
Our safer recruitment policy ensures that a person with a disability is treated fairly and in line with the Equality Act 
2010. If a person becomes disabled while working for the Trust a referral is made to an Occupational Health 
provider and we work closely with them, the employee and the line manager to ensure all the reasonable 
adjustments are made. Again, regarding the training, development and promotion of any disabled person, the Trust 
follows the Equality Act 2010 and ensures no discrimination takes place. All roles are posted on the careers section 
of our website and we encourage people to apply for roles they are interested in. Our appraisals can identify any 
knowledge gaps and we are working towards providing CPD that prepares people for the natural career 
progression within the company. 
 
 

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the Academy Trust 

Our trusts long term sustainability and success relies on the trust and confidence of its stakeholders. We put our 
pupils best interests first, invest in our employees, serve the communities where our schools are based and strive 
to support genuine improvement in the overall education system. 
 
Various parts of this director’s report provide examples of how we discharge our duties to our various stakeholders 
including pupils, employees and the wider community. In addition, management and trustees seek to understand 
and incorporate stakeholder views into decision making through various methods including stakeholder committees 
and surveys from parents, staff and pupils. 
 
The trustees and management operate the business in a responsible manner with the aim of ensuring that Avanti 
maintains a reputation for high standards of business conduct and good governance in particular in relation to 
requirements of the Academies Handbook. 
  

Related parties and other connected charities and organisations 

The Academy has relationships with the following organisations: 
 

• Govinda's Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary. 
 

• Avanti Services Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary. 
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Objectives and activities 

Objects and aims 

The principal activity of the Academy Trust is to advance for the public benefit education in the United Kingdom, in 
particular, but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, by establishing, maintaining, carrying on, 
managing and developing schools offering a broad and balanced curriculum. 
 
All schools in the Avanti Schools Trust prepare pupils for their respective life-journeys by promoting educational 
excellence, character formation and spiritual insight. 
  

Objectives, strategies and activities 

Educational Excellence 
Our vision for educational excellence is one where deeply inspired teachers nurture joyful students and nourish 
their innate passion for learning. Learning is a quest to discover each student’s unique gifts and potential and lay 
the foundation for their lifelong journey of learning. This is inseparable from high academic standards, where a 
challenging holistic curriculum cultivates independently thoughtful and reflective students by working towards a 
sense of mastery, emphasising depth, and not just breadth. 
 
Character Formation 
Our vision for character formation is one where virtues are taught by example and a supportive community of 
learners fosters a powerful sense of individual and collective purpose. Learning develops for these conscious 
changemakers as a quest for making the world a better place, starting with oneself. The capacity to internalise and 
put into practice what we have learned is the true test of learning. Building this capacity demands an experiential, 
virtues-led curriculum that embraces collaboration, custodianship and global perspectives. 
 
Spiritual Insight 
Our vision for spiritual insight is one where our interconnectedness with all living beings and with the universe, 
urges acts born out of humility and love, and the Self is perceived beyond its layers of coverings. Learning 
blossoms for these seekers as a quest for self-discovery and opens the door to their unlimited potential; an antidote 
to the emptiness of a materialistic or mechanistic worldview. The curriculum unveils the possibilities of sacredness 
and transcendence at every moment and so engenders  a deeply positive attitude to life, enduring happiness and 
heartfelt relationships. 
 
 

Key objectives 
Key objective for the year was to further stabilise the three SW schools and to manage the impact of covid. 
  

Public benefit 

The Directors confirm that they have referred to the guidance contained in the Charity Commission’s general 
guidance on Public Benefit when reviewing the Academy Trust’s aim and objectives and in planning future 
activities. The Directors consider that the Academy Trust’s aims are demonstrably to the public benefit. 
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Strategic report 
Achievements and performance 

Avanti House Secondary School 
The school opened as an all-through school in September 2012 as a free school. The two schools were formally 
demerged as of September 2017. During the academic year 2017-18 a short inspection of the secondary school 
was carried out by OFSTED. Overall the school was given a “Good” rating. 
 
Comments from the OFSTED report: 
 
“Through working as a team and developing a shared culture of high expectations, you and your leadership team 
have created a learning community that pupils say 'feels like a family'." 
 
“Pupils also commented on how much they appreciate the guidance and encouragement that they receive from 
staff at their school. Pupils felt that the extra help you and your teachers give them is allowing them to improve their 
work." 
 
“.... more challenging work has resulted in well above average progress at the end of key stage 4 for pupils, 
including the most able. For current pupils, this rapid progress is also evident in the way they talk about what and 
how they learn." 
 
The primary school is deemed a new school following the demerger from the DfE's perspective and has not yet had 
an inspection. 
 
Krishna Avanti Primary School (Harrow) 
The school joined the AST family in September 2012 as a convertor Academy. In the academic year 2017-18 an 
inspection of the school was carried out under section 5 of the Education Act 2005. Overall the school was given a 
“Good” rating. 
 
Comments from the OFSTED report: 
 
“Behaviour is outstanding. Pupils are polite and kind to each other. They show great respect for other people's 
views and incidents of poor behaviour are extremely rare." 
 
“Pupils are highly reflective about their own beliefs and can compare their faith with other religions. They learn to 
respect other people's faiths from an early age and know that everyone needs to be treated equally. As one pupil 
said, 'Instead of judging others, we look at how we can change ourselves'." 
 
“Around the school, there is a calm and harmonious atmosphere." 
 
“Pupils value their education. They love coming to school and take pride in it. Attendance is above the national 
average." 
 
Krishna Avanti Primary School (Leicester) 
The school opened in September 2011 in the first wave of free schools. In the academic year 2016-17 an 
inspection of the school was carried out under section 8 of the Education Act 2005. Overall the school was given a 
“Good” rating. 
 
Comments from the OFSTED report: 
 
“…the proportions of pupils, including disadvantaged pupils, who achieved expected levels in reading, writing and 
mathematics by the end of key stage 1 were above the national figures.” 
 
“You have ensured that the school is underpinned by the values of respect, self discipline, integrity, gratitude, 
courage and empathy. Pupils understand these values well and they are evident on displays around the school. 
Classrooms are bright and stimulating, with pupils’ work in a wide range of subjects on display.” 
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“You now have in place a strong senior leadership team who are knowledgeable and enthusiastic about their roles. 
They share an openness and honesty regarding their practice and are keen to learn from other schools, both locally 
and from within the trust.” 
 
“Parents are overwhelmingly supportive of the school. They told me that their children are happy, safe and making 
good progress. One parent who had recently moved their child from another school commented, ‘We are ecstatic!’” 
 
“The pupils I spoke with said overwhelmingly that they are happy, making good progress and feel safe. One pupil 
described the school to me as ‘Perfect!’ They are confident that bullying does not occur at Krishna Avanti and that 
behaviour both inside classrooms and on the playground is good. Pupils relish the wide range of extra-curricular 
activities that you offer, including karate, ballet, football, cricket, sewing and chess.” 
 
Avanti House Primary School 
The school opened in September 2017 (de-merger from secondary). It received its first OFSTED in 2019-20. The 
overall rating is Good with outstanding early years provision 
 
Comments from the OFSTED report: 
 
Pupils describe Avanti as ‘a very special place’. As the school has grown over the last couple of years, it has 
managed to retain its family ethos and strong community spirit. Pupils of all ages get on well together. Staff are 
united in their aim to enable every pupil to achieve highly and to leave the school as a well-rounded individual, with 
strong foundations for future learning. 
 
Pupils know that staff listen to them. Pupils’ ideas are taken seriously. The school council has recently been 
involved in designing the new playground. Pupils look after each other. Younger pupils told us that ‘the buddy bus 
stop in the playground actually works’. Pupils told us that they feel safe in school. Bullying is very rare but is always 
dealt with efficiently. 
 
Leaders and all staff place a strong emphasis on promoting pupils’ character and their personal development. 
These are key features of the ‘Avanti Way’ and the school’s aims. Pupils develop a strong sense of self-belief and 
an understanding of respect and tolerance. Older pupils told us all about different types of family, for example, and 
we saw pupils discussing suffering in the world and what they could do to put an end to it. 
 
Avanti Court Primary School 
The school opened as a primary school in September 2012 as a voluntary-aided school. The school converted to 
an Academy on 1 December 2015.  During the year 2018-19 there was a short OFSTED inspection. 
 
Comments from the OFSTED report: 
 
"Avanti Court Primary is a special place to learn. There is a balance between developing pupils academically and 
spiritually. The warmth of the school is obvious when first walking through the school gate. This is a school where 
everybody is made to feel welcome. Staff enjoy working here, and pupils enjoy learning here. This is because you 
and your team have worked hard to create a nurturing and inclusive environment. Pupils who are new to the school 
settle in well because there is a strong culture of respect in the school. Pupils are polite to a fault, and their 
behaviour is exemplary." 
 
“Children who start school in Reception with starting points above their peers are encouraged straight away to 
challenge themselves through their own learning, or are directed to do so by the teacher. These high expectations 
continue throughout their time in the school.” 
 
“Pupils with higher starting points say they feel challenged by their teachers during lessons. During work scrutiny, it 
was apparent that these pupils were producing work that was above that expected for their age in many subjects, 
and especially in English, science and mathematics." 
 
“In 2018, high-attaining Year 6 pupils' progress in mathematics and reading was above average. As a result, a 
higher proportion of pupils than found nationally attained the expected and the high standard in both subjects." 
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Krishna Avanti Primary School (Croydon) 
The school opened in September 2016. It received its first OFSTED in 2018-19. The overall rating is Good. 
 
Comments from the OFSTED report: 
 
Pupils understand the school’s values and bring them to life in the positive and gentle way they behave towards 
one another. 
 
Attendance is well above the national average for similar schools and has improved even more in the current year. 
Leaders’ excellent relationships with parents ensure that, when pupils do miss school, their attendance rapidly 
improves. 
 
The systematic and consistently effective teaching of reading ensures that pupils make excellent progress over 
time. The proportion of Year 1 pupils reaching the expected standard in phonics exceeds the national average. 
 
Pupils who arrive at the school speaking little English make particularly strong progress. As a result, they rapidly 
catch up with others in their class. 
 
The school’s work to promote pupils’ personal development and welfare is good. The curriculum is implemented 
effectively and ensures that pupils understand the school’s values. For example, pupils realise they can 
demonstrate integrity by continuing to cooperate even when they think adults are not watching them. 
 
Avanti Fields School 
The school opened in temporary accommodation in September 2018 as a 4-16 all-through school. In September 
2021 it moved to its new, permanent site and is currently open only to secondary aged pupils, the primary phase 
will open in September 2022.  The school has very quickly established a strong local reputation in the area and we 
believe will be oversubscribed in the years to come. The school has not yet received an OFSTED visit. 
 
South West schools 
These three separate inadequate former Steiner academies were transferred to Avanti Schools Trust in November 
2019 (Avanti Gardens School (Bristol), Avanti Park School (Frome) and Avanti Hall School (Exeter)). Since the 
transfer we have undertaken a curriculum review and a major staff restructuring programme. We have and will 
continue to work closely with ESFA colleagues who are supporting our ambition to transform these schools. The 
schools have not yet received an OFSTED grading. 
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Key performance indicators 

The following KPIs would apply to all Avanti Schools Trust schools. 
 
The quality of education 
This KPI seeks to evaluate school improvement strategies which include: 

• The extent to which the curriculum sets out the knowledge and skills that pupils gain in each key stage; the 
way the curriculum is taught and assessed; the progress pupils make and attainment at the end of each 
key stage. (including the readiness of students in the sixth form for the next stage in their education, going 
on to appropriate, high-quality destinations) 

• Evaluation of the quality of learning, teaching and progress, as evidenced by pupils’ work in books, lesson 
observations/learning walk and discussion with senior and middle leaders, staff and groups of pupils. 

• Focus on how AST schools are closing the achievement gap between different groups of learners 
(including disadvantaged pupils and pupils with SEND) in AST schools in comparison to those nationally. 

 
Behaviour and attitudes 
This KPI seeks to evaluate: 

• The links between the distinct Avanti ethos and values and the learning, social behaviours and attitudes 
that pupils develop over time. 

• How leaders and staff have created a safe, calm, orderly and positive environment in the school and the 
impact this has on the behaviour and attitudes of pupils. 

• The setting of clear routines and expectations for the behaviour of pupils across all aspects of school life, 
not just in the classroom. 

• The focus on attendance and punctuality for the school community 

• If policies and procedures are applied consistently and fairly by all staff and a positive and a respectful 
school culture in which staff know and care about pupil is established. 

• The schools’ full compliance with statutory duties to protect and safeguard pupils; ensuring bullying, 
discrimination and peer-on-peer abuse – online or offline– are not accepted 

• are dealt with quickly, consistently and effectively whenever they occur. 
Personal development 
This KPI seeks to evaluate: 

• The school’s intent to provide for the personal development of all pupils by supporting pupils in building 
their confidence and resilience so that they can keep themselves physically and mentally healthy. 

• How schools prepare pupils for their adult lives; providing pupils with strategies and opportunities which 
help them to engage with society. 

• The extent to which the school is developing and deepening pupils’ understanding of the fundamental 
British values of democracy, individual liberty, the rule of law and mutual respect and tolerance. 

• The knowledge, and respect for different faiths, feelings and values that pupils aquire. 

• The school’s delivery of the mandatory RSE curriculum. 

 
The quality of the Leadership and management in AST schools 
This KPI seeks to evaluate: 

• The effectiveness of all leaders in focussing their attention on the education provided by the school and as 
a result delivering high outcomes for all pupils. 

• If the continuing professional development for all staff develops their and skills so that they are able to 
deliver effective teaching and support for all pupils. 

• The extent to which leaders have engaged parents and carers in the school. 

• Leaders ambition and capacity in ensuring sustained improvements to achieve ‘outstanding’ Ofsted 
judgement. 
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Subsidiary company performance 
From 1 September 2013 the Academy Trust began operating a wholly-owned subsidiary called Govinda’s Limited. 
The subsidiary was created to take over the kitchen operation at Avanti Schools and to ensure that the catering 
operations are run in an efficient and cost effective way. The subsidiary operates school kitchens at the majority of 
Avanti Schools. Last year it also began to start operations in the new SW schools. It continues to generate income 
from other contracts outside the Avanti family. Govinda's Limited has been impacted by Covid-19 and has 
consequently made a smaller profit in the year. 
 
From September 2017, the Academy Trust began operating a wholly-owned subsidiary called Avanti Services 
Limited. The subsidiary was created to take over centralised and back-office functions for the Academy Trust and 
its schools. Avanti Services Limited continues to operate at a profit/break-even with any profits gifted to the parent 
company. 
 

  

Going concern 

After making appropriate enquiries, the Board of Directors has a reasonable expectation that the Academy Trust 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason it continues 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the 
going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting Policies. 
  

Promoting the success of the Academy Trust 

The trust has produced a document called the Avanti Way. This Avanti Way seeks to drive the long term objectives 
and decisions of trust. The below are the core principles from the Avanti Way and we aspire for this to be reflected 
in all aspects of engagement with our various stakeholders including pupils, and forms the basis for how we judge 
and promote our own success. 
 
Our Core Principles 

• We are unique spiritual beings with incredible potential, and we achieve our full potential by discovering 
and nurturing all parts of ourselves – intellectual, emotional,physical and spiritual. 

• We choose how we wish to respond to life and what we nurture within us. 

• We care for and respect all life – human, animal and plant – and live in a way that causes the least 
possible harm. 

• We each observe the one same reality from our own unique perspective and engage in open-minded 
dialogue to deeply enrich our vision. 

• We serve a higher purpose by living a meaningful and satisfying life of contribution. 

• We are nourished by personal relationships that fulfil our need to love and be loved, encouraging us to be 
the best we can be. 
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Financial review 

Financial report for the period 
Most of the Academy Trust’s income is obtained from the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) in the form 
of recurrent grants, some of which is restricted to particular purposes. The grants received from the ESFA during 
the year ended 31 August 2021 and the associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the Statement of 
Financial Activities. 
 
The Academy Trust also receives grants for fixed assets from the ESFA. In accordance with the Charities 
Statement of Recommended Practice, ‘Accounting and Reporting by Charities’ (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), such 
grants are shown in the Statement of Financial Activities as restricted income in the fixed asset fund. The restricted 
fixed asset fund balance is reduced by annual depreciation charges over the expected useful life of the assets 
concerned. 
 
During the year ended 31 August 2021, total expenditure of £32,527k (2020: £27,850k) was met by recurrent grant 
funding from the ESFA together with other incoming resources. The surplus/(deficit) of income over expenditure for 
the year (excluding restricted fixed asset funds, transfers to restricted fixed asset funds and actuarial losses on 
defined benefit pension schemes) was £197k (2020: £(894k)). 
 
At 31 August 2021, the net book value of fixed assets was £75,875k (2020: £76,583k). Movements in tangible fixed 
assets are shown in note 14 to the financial statements. The assets were used exclusively for providing education 
and the associated support services to the pupils of the Academy Trust. 
 
The Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund, in which the Academy Trust participates, showed a deficit of 
£896k at 31 August 2021 (2020: £544k). The London Borough of Harrow Scheme, in which the Academy Trust 
participates, showed a deficit of £3,817k at 31 August 2021 (2020: £2,211k). The London Borough of Redbridge 
Pension Fund showed a deficit of £1,007k at 31 August 2021 (2020: £588k). The London Borough of Croydon 
Pension showed a deficit of £124k at 31 August 2021 (2020: £57k). The Somerset County Council Pension Fund, 
in which the Academy Trust participates, showed a deficit of £1,061k at 31 August 2021 (2020: £861k). The Avon 
Pension Fund, in which the Academy Trust participates, showed a deficit of £266k at 31 August 2021 (2020: 
£181k). The Devon County Council Pension Fund, in which the Academy Trust participates, showed a deficit of 
£1,318k at 31 August 2021 (2020: £961k). 
 
 

Reserves policy 

The Directors review the reserve levels of the Academy Trust annually. This review encompasses the nature of 
income and expenditure streams, the need to match income with commitments and the nature of reserves. The 
Directors have determined that the appropriate level of free reserves should be equivalent to 4 (2020: 2) weeks’ 
expenditure, approximately £2,502k (2020: £1,071k (2 weeks)). 
 
The reason for this is to provide sufficient working capital to cover delays between spending and receipt of grants 
and to provide a cushion to deal with unexpected emergencies such as urgent maintenance.  The Academy Trust’s 
current level of free reserves of £5,868k (2020: £4,608k) (total funds excluding pension reserve deficit less the 
amount held in restricted fixed assets) is sufficient. The Academy Trust’s free reserves include restricted general 
funds of £3,647k (2020: £3,124k). 
  

Investment policy 

Under the Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Academy Trust has the power to invest funds not 
immediately required for its own purposes, in any way the Directors see fit. The organisation has a positive cash 
balance to cover eventualities and unforeseen expenses. The banking facilities are reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Financial position 
The Academy Trust held fund balances at 31 August 2021 of £73,255k (2020: £75,788k) comprising £71,034k 
(2020: £74,350k) of restricted funds and £2,221k (2020: £1,484k) of unrestricted general funds. Of the restricted 
funds, £75,875k (2020: £76,583k) is represented by tangible fixed assets. 
 
The Pension Reserve which is considered part of restricted funds was £8,488k (2020: £5,403k) in deficit. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties 

Financial and Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The Directors have assessed the major risks to which the Trust is exposed, in particular those relating to the 
specific teaching, provision of facilities and other operational areas of the individual Academies and their finances. 
The Directors have implemented a number of systems to assess risks that the school faces, especially in the non-
financial operational areas (including but not exclusive to teaching, safeguarding, health and safety, data 
protection, website compliance and staff wellbeing) and in relation to the control of finance.  Directors have 
introduced systems, including operational procedures and internal financial controls in order to minimise risk. The 
Academy Trust has an effective system of internal financial controls. 

The risks to which Avanti Schools Trust is exposed relate primarily to: 

• Change in government and legislation.

• Potential of reduced funding and cash flow

• Reduction in student numbers.

The principal risks and uncertainties that Avanti Schools Trust faces are mitigated by the risk management process 
that the Academy Trust has in place. 

Fundraising 

The Academy Trust carries out a limited amount of fundraising, mindful of the communities within which it operates. 
In circumstances when fundraising is undertaken there is no obligation for any child/parent to donate. Recognised 
standards are applied to ensure that fundraising is open, honest and respectful, protecting the public from undue 
pressure to donate. 

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting 

Energy consumption kWh 

Aggregate of energy consumption in the year 6,498,062 

Emissions of CO2 equivalent metric tonnes metric tonnes 

Scope 1 - direct emissions 

- Gas combustion 936.98  

- Fuel consumed for owned transport 0.60  

937.58 
Scope 2 - indirect emissions 

- Electricity purchased 358.26 

Scope 3 - other indirect emissions 

- Fuel consumed for transport not owned by the Academy Trust 2.48 

Total gross emissions 1,298.32 

Intensity ratio 

Tonnes CO2e per pupil 0.27 

Quantification and reporting methodology 

We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also used the GHG 
Reporting Protocol – Corporate Standard and have used the 2021 UK Government’s Conversion Factors for 
Company Reporting. 

Intensity measurement 

The chosen intensity measurement ratio is total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2 equivalent per pupil, the 
recommended ratio for the sector. 
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Measures taken to improve energy efficiency 

We have installed smart meters across all sites and increased video conferencing technology for staff meetings, to 
reduce the need for travel between sites. Solar panels have been installed at one of our schools 

Impact of COVID-19 
Lockdowns during the autumn and spring terms resulted in our schools needing to utilise online, remote learning. It 
was important therefore that we made use of thew additional funding to ensure that children would not be 
disadvantaged by as a result of the loss of ‘live’ teaching. 

The £650 million of universal catch-up premium funding made available in the 2020/21 academic year was 
calculated on a per pupil basis, providing each mainstream school with a total of £80 for each pupil from Reception 
through to Year 11. The total allocation of funds to AST was just over £300,000. To ensure that we made the most 
of this funding we: 

• Pooled the funding across the MAT which allowed us to recruit at least one HLTA per school (10 in total) 
on a twelve month, TTO (0.84) fixed term contract. HLTAs have been trained by school staff to deliver a 
planned catch up programme that has been informed by the latest EEF guidance and overseen and 
monitored by each principal.

• We retained a small percentage (5%) of the total funding to support the creation and implementation of 
‘hardship’ fund for eligible pupils and families. To date this has provided over 100 devices for 
disadvantaged students and helped fund household internet connections.

The concern is that gaps in learning and progress between disadvantaged pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils will 
increase as a result of the virus as a result of pupils not being able to access their teachers or the VLE as regularly 
as they needed to during the main lockdown or indeed in any future prolonged period of isolation or lockdown. 
Some of the control measures the MAT has implemented include: 

• Purchase of personal devices (Chromebooks) so that every child in the Trust on free school meals, or with 
an EHCP, could access their programme of digital learning. or This has been partly funded by a ‘hardship 
fund’ we created as part of the COVID 19 catch-up premium funding. In addition and as part of the ongoing
work on the VLE we have been able to design and implement:

• A parent portal with access to the resources and guidance on how to support their children’s learning.

• A series of Google Classroom support sessions for parents on home learning (placed on the above portal). 

• A virtual ‘MAT’ staffroom to support staff wellbeing.

Plans for future periods

The Trust will be looking to ensure that the current schools within the family continue to increase their stand-
ards. We welcomed our first three non-denomination schools in 2019-20, and we continue to progress the 
educational standards at these schools in the coming years. We welcomed a non-denominational presumption 
school in Hertfordshire (another 2 to follow) in September 2021 (delayed due to Covid) and are in the process of 
porting our Brent project to Hertfordshire too.
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Auditor 

Insofar as the Directors are aware: 

• there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditor is unaware

• the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

To ensure that Avanti Schools Trust is obtaining best value, the Directors have decided to carry out a tender 
process for the appointment of an Auditor for the financial year ending 31 August 2021 and succeeding years. 

Directors’ report, incorporating a strategic report, approved by order of the board of trustees, as the 
company directors, on 8 December 2021 and signed on the board’s behalf by:

.............................. .............................. 

Mr N Gor Mr M Younger 

Accounting Officer and Chief Executive Officer Chair 

Kirit
Stamp
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Scope of responsibility 

As Directors, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Avanti Schools Trust has an effective 
and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Board of Directors has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer, as Accounting 
Officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial 
management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement 
between Avanti Schools Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. The Chief Executive Officer is also 
responsible for reporting to the Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control. 
As Directors, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE’s Governance Handbook and 
competency framework for governance. 

Governance 

The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Directors’ Report and in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. The Board of Directors has met formally five times during the year and 
also had one Directors' Day. Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Directors was as follows: 

Directors Meetings attended Out of possible 

Mr N Gor (Accounting Officer and Chief Executive Officer) 6 6 

Mr M Younger (Chair) 6 6 

Dr K Pau 6 6 

Dr M Warrington 5 6 

Mrs B Nanthabalan 3 6 

Mr B Shah (Resigned 1 December 2020) 1 2 

Mr U Kalan (Resigned 18 January 2021) 2 2 

Mr A Read 5 6 

Mrs S Ventress 6 6 

Mr S Sahni 5 6 

Mr S Bassi (Appointed 15 October 2020) 4 5 

Mr J Lynas (Appointed 15 October 2020 and resigned 15 December 
2020) 1 1 

Mrs D Dhokia (Appointed 13 September 2021) 0 0 

Mr P Ganatra (Appointed 16 April 2021) 2 2 

Ms A Gupta (Appointed 16 April 2021) 2 2 

Ms M Loughrey (Appointed 13 September 2021) 0 0 

Miss P Popat (Appointed 13 September 2021) 0 0 

There have been no changes to the composition of the Board of Trustees. Resignations and appointments are 
detailed in the lists above. The trustees focus on ensuring clarity of vision, ethos and strategic direction.  This is 
done by holding executive leaders to account for the educational performance of the schools and its pupils, and the 
performance management of staff, as well as overseeing and ensuring effective financial performance. 

• The Board is currently looking at next steps to review governance impact and effectiveness. Consideration
is being given to commissioning an external governance specialist or organisation to undertake the
evaluation process.

• Additional Committees have been established by the Board to ensure compliance and oversee areas of
work that require strategic guidance and assurance, for example an Audit and Risk Committee (in
compliance with the requirements of the Academy Handbook) and People, Compliance and Governance
Committee.

Trustees have done a skills gap analysis to ensure membership on the Board covers a broad spectrum of 
knowledge which is strategically beneficial for the Trust. This has seen a balance in gender with a wide skills set of 
professionals with differing backgrounds.
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Review of value for money 

As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive has responsibility for ensuring that the Academy Trust delivers good 
value in the use of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money refers to the 
educational and wider societal outcomes achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received. 

The Accounting Officer considers how the Academy Trust’s use of its resources has provided good value for 
money during each academic year, and reports to the Board of Directors where value for money can be improved, 
including the use of benchmarking data where appropriate. The Accounting Officer for the Academy Trust has 
delivered improved value for money during the year by: 

• Improving educational results - The Academy Trust is committed to improving educational results at each 
of the schools and forms the heart of how spending decisions are made. Our schools have a fully 
embedded and developed tracking system for individual students that tracks levels of progress and 
attainment. We operated a robust school review process in the academic year which allows schools to 
focus their budget in areas focused strongly on school improvement.

• Ensuring strong financial governance and oversight supports VFM decision making - The Academy Trust 
operates a strong control environment with very clearly documented control processes and procedures 
which are consistent across the organisation. One of the key tenets of the control environment is to ensure 
that each school within the Academy Trust family should achieve value for money, particularly in relation to 
pupil outcomes and needs. Robust procurement procedures and controls have been established within 
each Academy Trust school to ensure this goal is achieved. This includes the requirement for additional 
levels of financial scrutiny and review for key risk purchases especially those of a higher value. School 
Finance Officers are accountable to the Principal and the Finance Director. The Finance Director is held to 
account by various parties these include the Chief Executive Officer, who is also the Accounting Officer of 
the Academy Trust, the Avanti Schools Trust Audit & Risk Committee, the Avanti Schools Trust Board of 
Directors, the appointed internal and external auditors.

• Procurement procedures result in value for money - Contracts and services are regularly appraised and 
renegotiated when appropriate to ensure value for money. A procurement matrix is in place for each 
school in the Academy Trust which requires additional level of quotes, scrutiny and review for higher levels 
of payments. The Academy Trust always assesses the cost and benefits of various options before making 
a decision to ensure the right option for the longer term. The Academy Trust has been able to achieve 
economies and savings as a result of being able to share resources between schools and due to a larger 
buying power through our combined purchases.

The purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can, therefore, only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Academy Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Avanti Schools Trust for the period 
1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. 

Capacity to handle risk 

The Board of Directors has reviewed the key risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed together with the 
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board of 
Directors is of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
Academy Trust’s significant risks that has been in place for the period 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021and up 
to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the 
Board of Directors. 
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The risk and control framework 

The Academy Trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management 
information and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and 
accountability. In particular, it includes: 

• comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports 
which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Directors and/or relevant subcommittees.

• reviews by the Finance Committee of reports which indicate financial performance against the forecasts 
and of major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes;

• setting targets to measure financial and other performance;

• clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines;

• delegation of authority and segregation of duties;

• identification and management of risks.

The Board of Directors has considered the need for a specific internal audit function and has decided: 

• to appoint AIMS and Juniper as internal auditors.

The internal auditor’s role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the 
Academy Trust’s financial systems. In particular, the checks carried out in the current period include: 

• Testing of payroll systems

• Testing of bank reconciliation

• Testing of purchase systems

Review of effectiveness 

As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control.  During the year in question, the review has been informed by: 

• the work of the internal auditor;

• the work of the external auditor;

• the work of the executive managers within the Academy Trust who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framework.

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal 
control by the Audit Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place. 

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Directors on 8 December 2021

Mr N Gor Mr M Younger 

Accounting Officer and Chief Executive 
Officer 

Chair 
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The Directors (who act as trustees for charitable activities of Avanti Schools Trust and are also the directors of the 
charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction published by the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) 
and applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare accounts for each financial year. Under company law, the Directors 
must not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and 
expenditure, for that period. 

In preparing these accounts, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 
2020 to 2021;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the accounts; and

• prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charitable 
company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation, the charitable company applies 
financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial 
management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants received from the ESFA/DfE have been applied for the 
purposes intended. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Approved by order of the members of the Board of Directors on 8 December 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 

Mr N Gor Mr M Younger 

Accounting Officer and Chief Executive Officer Chair 

Kirit
Stamp
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As Accounting Officer of Avanti Schools Trust I have considered my responsibility to notify the Academy Trust 
Board of Directors and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and 
non-compliance with terms and conditions of all funding received by the Academy Trust, under the funding 
agreement in place between the Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. As part of my 
consideration I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academies’ Financial Handbook 2020. 
  

I confirm that the Academy Trust Board of Directors and I are able to identify any material irregular or improper use 
of all funds by the Academy Trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the 
Academy Trust's funding agreement and the Academies’ Financial Handbook 2020. 
  

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been discovered to 
date. If any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the Board of Directors 
and ESFA. 
 

  

Mr N Gor 

Accounting Officer 

 

......................... 
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Opinion 
 We have audited the accounts of Avanti Schools Trust (the 'parent Academy Trust') and its subsidiary companies 
(the 'group') for the year ended 31 August 2021 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance 
Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to the accounts, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), the 
Charities SORP and the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by the Education and Skills Funding 
Agency. 
  

In our opinion the accounts: 
 - give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent Academy Trust's affairs as at 31 August 

2021 and of the group's incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and 
expenditure, for the year then ended; 
 - have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
 - have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and 
 - have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 
2020 to 2021. 
  

Basis for opinion 
 We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of 
the accounts' section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the accounts in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
  

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Academy Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 
 

 

Other information 
 The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, other than the accounts and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the accounts does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the accounts or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the accounts or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit: 
 - the information given in the Directors' Report including the incorporated strategic report for the financial year 

for which the accounts are prepared is consistent with the accounts; and 
 - the Directors' Report including the incorporated strategic report has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 
  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent Academy Trust and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Directors' Report, including 
the incorporated strategic report. 
  

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 - adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or 
 - the parent Academy Trust's accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
 - certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 - we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
  

Responsibilities of Directors 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the accounts and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of accounts that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent Academy Trust’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent Academy 
Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
  

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the accounts 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the accounts as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these accounts. 
  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 
 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
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Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above and on the Financial Reporting Council’s website, to detect material 
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
We obtain and update our understanding of the entity, its activities, its control environment, and likely future 
developments, including in relation to the legal and regulatory framework applicable and how the entity is complying 
with that framework.  Based on this understanding, we identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  This includes 
consideration of the risk of acts by the entity that were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. 
 

 

 

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud, we designed 
procedures which included: 

• Enquiry of senior leadership, Directors and those charged with governance around actual and potential 
litigation and claims as well as actual, suspected and alleged fraud;  

• Reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance; 

• Assessing the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations considered to have a direct material 
effect on the financial statements or the operations of the company through enquiry and inspection;  

• Reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations including compliance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 
2021 issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency; 

• Performing audit work over the recognition of grant income and the allocation of expenditure to funds; 

• Performing audit work over the risk of management bias and override of controls, including testing of 
journal entries and other adjustments for appropriateness, evaluating the rationale of significant 
transactions outside the normal course of business and reviewing accounting estimates for indicators of 
potential bias.  

 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including those 
leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation.  This risk 
increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions reflected 
in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance.  The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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Use of our report 
 This report is made solely to the parent Academy Trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the parent Academy 
Trust's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the parent 
Academy Trust and the parent Academy Trust's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
  

David Cary LLB FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Azets Audit Services 13 December 2021

 

Chartered Accountants 

Statutory Auditor Anglo House 

 Bell Lane Office Village 

 Bell Lane 

 Amersham 

 Buckinghamshire 

 United Kingdom 

 HP6 6FA 

David.Cary
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In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 6 October 2021 and further to the requirements of the 
Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021, we 
have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and income 
received by Avanti Schools Trust during the period 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 have been applied to the 
purposes identified by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
This report is made solely to Avanti Schools Trust and ESFA in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter. 
Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Avanti Schools Trust and ESFA those matters we are 
required to state in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than Avanti Schools Trust and ESFA, for our work, for this report, or for the 
conclusion we have formed. 
 

 

Respective responsibilities of Avanti Schools Trust's accounting officer and the reporting accountant 

The Accounting Officer is responsible, under the requirements of the Academy’s funding agreement with the 
Secretary of State for Education dated 9 August 2012 and the Academies Financial Handbook, extant from 1 
September 2020, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes intended 
by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 

  

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical guidance 
and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements of 
the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021. We report to you whether, in our opinion, anything has come to 
our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and 
income received during the year 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 have not been applied to purposes intended 
by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 

 

Approach 

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by the 
ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in our engagement letter. 
 

  

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and 
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on 
regularity. 
 
  

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that 
might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion. 
 

  

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the 
Trust’s income and expenditure. 
 

  

Our work included identification and assessment of the design and operational effectiveness of the controls, policies 
and procedures that have been implemented to ensure compliance with the framework of authorities including high 
level financial control areas and areas assessed of presenting a higher risk of impropriety.  We undertook detailed 
testing, based on our assessment of risk of material irregularity, where such controls, policies and procedures apply 
to classes of transactions.  This work was integrated with our audit on the financial statements to the extent 
evidence from the conduct of that audit supports the regularity conclusion as well as additional testing based on our 
assessment of risk of material irregularity. 
 



 

AVANTI SCHOOLS TRUST 

 

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANT'S ASSURANCE REPORT ON 
REGULARITY TO AVANTI SCHOOLS TRUST AND THE EDUCATION AND SKILLS 
FUNDING AGENCY (CONTINUED) 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2021 

 

 

 
- 27 - 

Conclusion 

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the 
expenditure disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 has not been 
applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
 

  

Reporting Accountant 

Azets Audit Services 

Anglo House 

Bell Lane Office Village 

Bell Lane 

Amersham 

Buckinghamshire 

HP6 6FA 

United Kingdom 

 

Dated: 13 December 2021

David.Cary
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 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total Total  

 funds General Fixed asset 2021 2020  

 as restated  

 Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

Income and endowments from:  

Donations and capital grants 3 392 - 2,460 2,852 1,606  

Donations - transfer of existing 
academy into the trust  - - - - 24,984 

 

Charitable activities:  

- Funding for educational operations 4 - 27,848 - 27,848 25,421  

Other trading activities 5 344 867 - 1,211 1,299  

Investments 6 1 - - 1 3  

 
            Total  737 28,715 2,460 31,912 53,313  

 
            Expenditure on:  

Charitable activities:  

- Educational operations 9 - 29,255 3,272 32,527 27,850  

 
            Total 7 - 29,255 3,272 32,527 27,850  

 
            

Net income/(expenditure)  737  (540) (812) (615) 25,463  

 

Transfers between funds 22 -  (104) 104 - -  

 

Other recognised gains/(losses)  

Actuarial losses on defined benefit 
pension schemes 24 - 

 

(1,918) - 

 

(1,918) (697) 
 
            Net movement in funds 737  (2,562) (708) (2,533) 24,766  

 

Reconciliation of funds  

Total funds brought forward  1,484  (2,279) 76,583 75,788 51,022  

 
            Total funds carried forward  2,221  (4,841) 75,875 73,255 75,788  
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Comparative year information  Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  

Year ended 31 August 2020  funds General Fixed asset 2020  

As restated Notes £000 £000 £000 £000  

 

Income and endowments from:  

Donations and capital grants 3 57 - 1,549 1,606  

Donations - transfer of existing academy into the 
trust  23 

 

(1,331) 26,292 24,984 

 

Charitable activities:  

- Funding for educational operations 4 - 25,421 - 25,421  

Other trading activities 5 407 892 - 1,299  

Investments 6 3 - - 3  

 
          Total  490 24,982 27,841 53,313  

 
          Expenditure on:  

Charitable activities:  

- Educational operations 9 - 26,366 1,484 27,850  

 
          Total 7 - 26,366 1,484 27,850  

 
          

Net income/(expenditure)  490  (1,384) 26,357 25,463  

 

Transfers between funds 22 -  (278) 278 -  

 

Other recognised gains/(losses)  

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension 
schemes 24 - 

 

(697) - 

 

(697) 
 
          Net movement in funds 490  (2,359) 26,635 24,766  

 

Reconciliation of funds  

Total funds brought forward  994 80 49,948 51,022  

 
          Total funds carried forward  1,484  (2,279) 76,583 75,788  
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2021 2020 

as restated 

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000  

Fixed assets 

Tangible assets 14 74,530  75,724  

Current assets 

Stocks 17 20  14  

Debtors 18 1,511  1,618  

Cash at bank and in hand 12,316  8,508  

13,847  10,140  

Current liabilities 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one 
year 19 (5,440) (3,450) 

Net current assets 8,407  6,690  

Total assets less current liabilities 82,937  82,414  

Creditors: amounts falling due after more 
than one year 21 (1,194) (1,223) 

Net assets before defined benefit pension 
scheme liability 81,743 81,191 

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 24 (8,488)  (5,403) 

Total net assets 73,255  75,788  

Funds of the Academy Trust: 

Restricted funds 22 

- Fixed asset funds 75,875  76,583  

- Restricted income funds 3,647  3,124  

- Pension reserve (8,488)  (5,403) 

Total restricted funds 71,034  74,304  

Unrestricted income funds 22 2,221  1,484  

Total funds 73,255  75,788  

are signed on their behalf by: 
The accounts on pages 28 to 65 were approved by the Directors and authorised for issue on 8 December 2021 and  

.............................. .............................. 

Mr N Gor Mr M Younger 

Accounting Officer and Chief Executive Officer Chair 

Company Number 07506598  

Kirit
Stamp
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2021 2020 

as restated 

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 

Fixed assets 

Tangible assets 14 74,530  75,722 

Current assets 

Stocks 17 1  -  

Debtors 18 1,468  1,524  

Cash at bank and in hand 12,015  8,280  

13,484  9,804  

Current liabilities 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 19 (5,376)  (3,236)  

Net current assets 8,108  6,568 

Total assets less current liabilities 82,638  82,290 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one 
year 21 (1,152) (1,173) 

Net assets before defined benefit pension scheme liability 

81,486 81,117 

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 24 (8,488)  (5,403) 

Total net assets 72,998  75,714 

Funds of the Academy Trust: 

Restricted funds 22 

- Fixed asset funds 75,875  76,581 

- Restricted income funds 3,390  3,052 

- Pension reserve (8,488)  (5,403) 

Total restricted funds 70,777  74,230 

Unrestricted income funds 22 2,221  1,484 

Total funds 72,998  75,714 

The accounts on pages 28 to 65 were approved by the Directors and authorised for issue on 8 December 2021 and 
are signed on their behalf by: 

.............................. .............................. 

Mr N Gor Mr M Younger 

Accounting Officer and Chief Executive Officer Chair 

Company Number 07506598 

Kirit
Stamp
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2021 2020 

as restated 

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net cash provided by operating activities 25 1,493  2,052 

Cash funds transferred on conversion -  154 

1,493  2,206 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Dividends, interest and rents from investments 1  3  

Capital grants from DfE Group 2,460  1,549  

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (146)  (369)  

Net cash provided by investing activities 2,315  1,183 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Receipt/(repayment) of other loan -  50  

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities -  50 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents in the 
reporting period 3,808 3,439 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 8,508  5,069 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12,316  8,508 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 Avanti Schools Trust is a charitable company.  The address of its principal place of business is given on page 
1 and the nature of its operations are set out in the Directors' report. 
  

 A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where 
noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below. 
  

1.1 Basis of preparation 

 The accounts of the Academy Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies 
Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Avanti Schools Trust meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. 
 
The financial statements are presented in sterling (£), which is also the functional currency for the Academy 
Trust. 
 

 

1.2 Going concern 

 The Directors assess whether the use of going concern is appropriate, i.e. whether there are any material 
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the company to 
continue as a going concern. The Directors make this assessment in respect of a period of at least one year 
from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have concluded that the Academy 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no 
material uncertainties about the Academy Trust's ability to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 
  

1.3 Income 

 All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is 
probable and the amount can be measured reliably. 
  

 Grants 

 Grants, where conditions have been met to establish entitlement, are included in the statement of financial 
activities on a receivable basis. Where grants are received but conditions establishing entitlement have not 
been met, these are deferred. The balance of income receivable for specific purposes but not expended 
during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the balance sheet. 
  

 General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which it is 
receivable and any unspent amount is reflected as a balance in the restricted general fund. 
 
Capital grants are recognised when receivable and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they 
are expended. Unspent amounts of capital grant are reflected in the balance in the restricted fixed asset fund. 
 

 

 Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts 
of capital grants are reflected in the balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are 
recognised when there is entitlement and are not deferred over the life of the asset on which they are 
expended. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 Donations 

 Donations are included in the statement of financial activities on a cash received basis or on an accruals basis 
where they are assured with reasonable certainty and are receivable at the balance sheet date. 
  

 Other income 

 Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to the extent the 
Academy Trust has provided the goods or services. 
  

 Donated goods, facilities and services 

 The value of donated services and gifts in kind provided to the Trust is recognised in the statement of financial 
activities as incoming resources and resources expended at their estimated value to the Trust in the year in 
which they are receivable, and where the benefit is both quantifiable and material. 
 
Where it has been ascertained that the risks and rewards of property subject to long lease agreements lie 
substantially with the Trust, a reasonable estimate of the gross value is included within fixed assets and, with 
an appropriate credit to voluntary income (gift in kind), within the restricted fixed asset fund. The valuation is 
at an estimation of depreciated replacement cost on the basis that the assets represent specialised property 
and the open market value for existing use is not readily available. 
  

 Donated fixed assets 

 Donated fixed assets are measured at fair value unless it is impractical to measure this reliably, in which case 
the cost of the item to the donor is used. The gain is recognised as income from donations and a 
corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over the useful 
economic life in accordance with the Academy Trust‘s accounting policies. 
  

 Interest receivable 
Interest receivable is included within the statement of financial activities on a receivable basis. 
  

1.4 Expenditure 

 All expenditure is recognised in the year in which a liability is incurred and has been classified under headings 
that aggregate all costs related to that category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular 
headings they have been allocated on a basis consistent with the use of resources, with central staff costs 
allocated on the basis of time spent, and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the asset’s use. 
Other support costs are allocated based on the spread of staff costs. All resources expended are inclusive of 
irrecoverable VAT. 
  

 Charitable activities 

 These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust's educational operations, including support costs and costs 
relating to the governance of the Academy Trust apportioned to charitable activities. 
  

 Governance costs 

 Governance costs include the costs attributable to the Trust’s compliance and constitutional and statutory 
requirements, including audit, strategic management and Board of Directors’ meetings and reimbursed 
expenses. Such costs include both direct and allocated support costs. 
  

 Allocation of costs 
In accordance with the Charities SORP, expenditure has been analysed between the cost of generating 
funds, the Academy Trust’s charitable activities and governance. Items of expenditure which involve more 
than one cost category have been apportioned on a reasonable, justifiable and consistent basis for the cost 
category concerned. Central staff costs and depreciation are directly attributable to the one principal activity of 
the Academy Trust. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

1.5 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 

 Tangible fixed assets acquired since the Trust was established are included in the accounts at cost. Assets 
costing less than £5,000 are written off in the year of acquisition. All other assets are capitalised. 
 
Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the Government or 
from the private sector, they are included in the balance sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected 
useful economic life. The related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund (in the Statement of 
Financial Activities and carried forward in the balance sheet). The depreciation on such assets is charged to 
the restricted fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. 
  

 Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write them 
down to their estimated residual values on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows: 
 

 

 Land & buildings 2% (Building Improvements 6.67%) 

 Assets under construction nil 

 Plant & machinery 10% 

 ICT 33.3% 

 Fixtures, fittings & equipment 20% 

 Motor vehicles 20% 

 

 Assets in the course of construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until 
they are brought into use. 
  

 A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed assets 
and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
statement of financial activities. 
  

1.6 Liabilities 

 Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement 
can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Academy Trust anticipates it will 
pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods of services it must 
provide. 
  

1.7 Leased assets 

 Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership remain 
with the lessor are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 

 

1.8 Financial instruments 

 The Academy Trust only holds basic financial instruments as defined in FRS 102. The financial assets and 
financial liabilities of the Academy Trust and their measurement basis are as follows: 
  

 Financial assets 

 Trade and other debtors are basic financial instruments and are debt instruments measured at amortised 
cost. Prepayments are not financial instruments. Amounts due by the charity's wholly-owned subsidiaries are 
held at face value less any impairment. 
 
Cash at bank is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at face value. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 Financial liabilities 

 Trade creditors, accruals and other creditors are financial instruments, and are measured at amortised cost. 
Taxation and social security are not included in the financial instruments disclosure definition. 
 
Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and 
there is an obligation to deliver services rather than cash or another financial instrument. 
  

1.9 Stock 

 Stock is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is based on estimated 
selling price less further costs to completion and disposal. Provision is made for obsolete and slow-moving 
stock. 
  

1.10 Taxation 

 The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 
2010 and, therefore, meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. 
Accordingly, the Academy Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains 
received within categories covered by Part 11, Chapter 3 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of 
the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to 
charitable purposes. 
  

1.11 Pensions benefits 

 Retirement benefits to employees of the Academy Trust are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
(TPS) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). These are defined benefit schemes. 
  

 The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over 
employees’ working lives with the Academy Trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level 
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government 
Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method. As stated in Note 21, 
the TPS is a multi-employer scheme and there is insufficient information available to use defined benefit 
accounting. The TPS is, therefore, treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the 
contributions recognised in the period to which they relate. 
  

 The LGPS is a funded scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the Academy Trust in 
separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are 
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to 
the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. 
The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The 
amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, 
benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and 
comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, 
calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to 
discount the benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the 
actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses. 
 

 

1.12 Fund accounting 

 General funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the objects of the 
Academy Trust at the discretion of the Directors. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 Restricted fixed asset funds are resources that are applied to specific capital purposes imposed by the ESFA 
and DfE where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose. 
  

 Restricted funds comprise all other restricted funds received and include grants from the ESFA and DfE. 
  

2 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 

 

 Accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
  

 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

 The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
  

 The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of 
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in 
determining the net cost or income for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, 
which are disclosed in note 24, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore, a roll 
forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2019 
has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 August 2021. Any differences between the 
figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying 
amount of the pension liability. 
  

 Critical areas of judgement 

 The Directors consider that the only area of judgement that is critical to the Academy Trust's financial 
statements is the freehold property valuation, which was determined by the ESFA on conversion to Academy 
Trust status. 
  

3 Donations and capital grants  

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 

 funds funds 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 Capital grants - 2,460 2,460 1,549 

 Other donations 392 - 392 57 
 
          392 2,460 2,852 1,606 
 
        



 

AVANTI SCHOOLS TRUST 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2021 

 

 

 
- 38 - 

4 Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations  

 

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 

 funds funds 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 DfE / ESFA grants  

 General annual grant (GAG) - 23,006 23,006 20,803 

 Other DfE / ESFA grants:  

 UIFSM - 458 458 494 

 Pupil premium - 486 486 477 

 Start up grants - 359 359 272 

 Teachers pension grants - 768 768 643 

 Teachers pay grants - 237 237 74 

 PE and sports premium - 147 147 143 

 Rates - 225 225 203 

 Others - 678 678 1,253 
 
          - 26,364 26,364 24,362 
 
          Other government grants  

 Local authority SEND funding - 771 771 638 

 Local authority nursery funding - 219 219 214 
 
          - 990 990 852 
 
          Exceptional government funding  

 Coronavirus job retention scheme grant - 119 119 207 

 Other Coronavirus funding - 375 375 - 
 
          - 494 494 207 
 
         

 Total funding - 27,848 27,848 25,421 
 
         

 The trust has been eligible to claim additional funding in year from government support schemes in response 
to the coronavirus outbreak. The funding received is shown above under “exceptional government funding”. 
 

• The trust furloughed some of its staff under the government’s CJRS. The funding received of £129k 
(2020: £207k) relates to staff costs in respect of multiple staff which are included within note 11 below 
as appropriate. 

• Included within other coronavirus funding above is mass testing funding of £105k. 

• Included within other coronavirus funding above is coronavirus (COVID-19) catch-up premium of 
£270k. 
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5 Other trading activities  

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 

 funds funds 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 Catering income - 768 768 653 

 Other income 344 99 443 646 
 
          344 867 1,211 1,299 
 
         

6 Investment income  

 Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 

 funds funds 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 Short term deposits 1 - 1 3 
 
         

7 Expenditure  

 Non-pay expenditure Total Total 

 Staff costs Premises Other 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 Academy's educational operations  

  - Direct costs 15,894 - 1,421 17,315 16,540 

 - Allocated support costs 6,456 5,949 2,807 15,212 11,310 
 
            22,350 5,949 4,228 32,527 27,850 
 
           

 Net income/(expenditure) for the year includes:  2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 

 Fees payable to auditor for audit services 47 43 

 Operating lease rentals 454 460 

 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 1,340 1,290 

 Net interest on defined benefit pension liability 96 70 
 
     

8 Central services 

 

 The Academy Trust has provided the following central services to its academies during the year; 
 
· Major capital projects support 
· Financial services 
· Educational support services 
· Others as arising 
 
 



 

AVANTI SCHOOLS TRUST 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2021 

 

 

 
- 40 - 

8 Central services 

 

 The amounts charged during the year were as follows: 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 

 Avanti House Secondary School  542 310 

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (3)  94 36 

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (1)  158 85 

 Avanti Court Primary School  239 171 

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (2)  203 121 

 Avanti House Primary School  183 109 

 Avanti Fields School  217 82 

 Avanti Gardens School  131 75 

 Avanti Hall School  152 90 

 Avanti Park School  151 86 
 
      2,070 1,165 
 
     

9 Charitable activities 

 2021 2020 

 All from restricted funds: £000 £000 

 Direct costs  

 Educational operations 17,315 16,540 
 

 Support costs  

 Educational operations 15,212 11,310 
 
      32,527 27,850 
 
     

 Analysis of costs 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 Direct costs  

 Teaching and educational support staff costs 15,894 15,315 

 Staff development 137 141 

 Educational supplies and services 732 714 

 Examination fees 121 74 

 Educational consultancy 209 33 

 Other direct costs 222 263 
 
      17,315 16,540 
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9 Charitable activities 

 

 Support costs  

 Support staff costs 6,456 5,828 

 Depreciation 1,340 1,290 

 Technology costs 503 490 

 Recruitment and support 91 85 

 Maintenance of premises and equipment 2,786 654 

 Cleaning 624 432 

 Energy costs 351 391 

 Rent, rates and other occupancy costs 717 712 

 Insurance 98 131 

 Security and transport 220 106 

 Catering 517 434 

 Finance costs 96 70 

 Other support costs 1,374 644 

 Governance costs 39 43 
 
      15,212 11,310 
 
     

10 Governance costs  

 Total Total 

 All from restricted funds: 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 Amounts included in support costs  

 Auditor's remuneration  

 - Audit of financial statements 39 43 
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11 Staff  

 

 Staff costs  

 Staff costs during the year were:  

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 

 Wages and salaries 15,439 13,647 

 Social security costs 1,474 1,327 

 Pension costs 3,934 3,654 

 Apprenticeship levy 58 51 
 
      Staff costs - employees 20,905 18,679 

 Agency staff costs 1,200 1,793 

 Staff restructuring costs 245 671 
 
      22,350 21,143 

 Staff development and other staff costs 137 141 
 
      Total staff expenditure 22,487 21,284 
 
     

 Staff restructuring costs comprise:  

 

 Redundancy payments 245 671 
 
 

 

 Non statutory/non-contractual staff severance payments

 Included in staff restructuring costs are 9 (2020: 1) non-statutory/non-contractual severance payments
totalling £106k (2020: £28k). Individually, the payments were £30k, £20k, £15k, £15k, £11k, £5k, £5k, £3k 

and £2k. (2020 - one payment of £28k).

 Staff numbers  

 The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the year was as follows:  

  2021 2020 

 Number Number 

 

 Teachers  278 291 

 Administration and support  328 335 

 Management  4 4 
 
      610 630 
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11 Staff  

 

 Higher paid staff  

 The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs) exceeded £60,000 
was: 

 

 2021 2020 

 Number Number 

 

 £60,000 - £70,000 13 5 

 £70,001 - £80,000 3 3 

 £80,001 - £90,000 2 2 

 £90,001 - £100,000 - 3 

 £100,001 - £110,000 3 1 

 £110,001 - £120,000 2 2 

 £120,001 - £130,000 1 - 

 £140,001 - £150,000 1 1 
 
     

 Key management personnel  

 The key management personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the Directors and the senior management 
team as listed on page 1. The total amount of key management personnel employee benefits (including 
employer pension contributions and employer national insurance contributions) received by key management 
personnel for their services to the Academy Trust was £633k (2020: £661k). 
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12 Directors' remuneration and expenses 

 

 One or more Directors has been paid remuneration or has received other benefits from employment with the 
Academy Trust. The staff Directors and Trustees only receive remuneration in respect of services they 
provide undertaking the roles of staff members under their contracts of employment. Other Directors did not 
receive any payments, other than expenses, from the Academy Trust in respect of their role as Directors. 
During the year, travel and subsistence payments totalling £nil (2020: £4,734) were reimbursed to nil (2020: 
three) Directors. 
 
The one (2020: one) staff Directors who received remuneration was: 
 
Name                                                       2021                                 2020
N. Gor
Gross salary                                 £155,001 - £ 160,000      £145,001 - £150,000
Employer's National Insurance     £  15,001 - £   20,000      £  15,001 - £  20,000 
Employer's pension contributions £  25,001 - £   30,000      £  25,001 - £  30,000

 
 
Other related party transactions involving the Directors are set out within the related parties note. 
  

13 Directors' and officers' insurance 

 

 The Academy Trust has opted into the Department for Education's risk protection arrangement (RPA), an 
alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects trustees 
and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on academy 
business, and provides cover up to £10,000,000. It is not possible to quantify the trustees and officers 
indemnity element from the overall cost of the RPA scheme. 
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14 Tangible fixed assets 

 

 Tangible fixed assets - Group 

 Land & 
buildings 

Assets 
under 

construct'n 

Plant & 
machinery 

ICT Fixtures, 
fittings & 

equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 Cost  

 At 1 
September 
2020 78,525 281 360 154 114 59 79,493 

 Transfer on 
completion 281 

 

(281) - - - - - 

 Additions 32 53 22 14 25 - 146 
 
                At 31 August 

2021 78,838 53 382 168 139 59 79,639 
 
                Depreciation 

 At 1 
September 
2020 3,439 - 105 141 62 22 3,769 

 Charge for 
the year 1,259 - 36 14 19 12 1,340 

 
                At 31 August 

2021 4,698 - 141 155 81 34 5,109 
 
                Net book value 

 At 31 August 
2021 74,140 53 241 13 58 25 74,530 

 
                At 31 August 

2020 75,086 281 255 13 52 37 75,724 
 
               

 Land and buildings above include land at the value of £16,580k.  Land is not depreciated within the financial 
statements. 
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14 Tangible fixed assets 

 

 Tangible fixed assets - Company 

 

 Land & 
buildings 

Assets 
under 

construct'n 

Plant & 
machinery 

ICT Fixtures, 
fittings & 

equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 Cost  

 At 1 September 
2020 78,525 281 360 154 114 52 79,486 

 Transfer on 
completion 281 (281) - - - - - 

 Additions 32 53 22 14 25 - 146 
 
                At 31 August 

2021 78,838 53 382 168 139 52 79,632 
 
                Depreciation 

 At 1 September 
2020 3,439 - 105 141 62 17 3,764 

 Charge for the 
year 1,259 - 36 14 19 10 1,338 

 
                At 31 August 

2021 4,698 - 141 155 81 27 5,102 
 
                Net book value 

 At 31 August 
2021 74,140 53 241 13 58 25 74,530 

 
                At 31 August 

2020 75,086 281 255 13 52 35 75,722 
 
               

 Land and buildings above include land at the value of £16,580k.  Land is not depreciated within the financial 
statements. 
  

 Tangible fixed assets - Group and Company  

 

 The net book value of land and buildings comprises:  

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 

 Freeholds 28,915 29,231 

 Long leaseholds (over 50 years) 37,884 38,353 

 Short leaseholds (under 50 years) 7,341 7,502 
 
      74,140 75,086 
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14 Tangible fixed assets 

 

 Security held by the Secretary of State for Education 
Group and Company 
 
Legal charges dated 30 March 2012, 18 February 2015 and three dated 31 October 2019 are held by The 
Secretary of State for Education, giving him/her a fixed charge over land and buildings at the following: 
 

• St. Paul's Roman Catholic School, Spencefield Lane, Leicester 

• The west side of Spencefield Lane, Leicester, LE5 6HN known as Evington Hall, Spencefield Lane, 
Leicester, LE5 6HN. 

• Victoria Hospital, Park Road, Frome, land on the west side of Victoria Hospital, Park Road, Frome 
(BA11 1EY), 69 Weymouth Road, Frome (BA11 1HJ), land lying to the west of Park Road, Frome, 
land lying on the north side of Park Road, Frome and Victoria Hospital, Park Road, Frome. 

• Thomas Hall, Lower Argyll Road, Exeter, EX4 4RG. 

• Land at College of St Matthias, Oldbury Court Road, Bristol. 

 
The charges were registered with Companies House on 17 April 2012, 9 March 2015, two on 4 November 
2019 and 5 November 2019 
 

 

 

15 Fixed asset investments 

 Total 

 Historical cost: 

 At 31 August 2021 - 
 
    At 31 August 2020 - 
 
   

 The investment in group undertakings relates to the cost of: 
 

• the 1 ordinary share of £1 (2020: 1 ordinary share of £1), being 100% of the issued share capital of 
Govinda's Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales, which is a trading subsidiary of 
the charitable company. 

 

• the 100 ordinary shares of £1 (2020: 100 ordinary shares of £1), being 100% of the issued share 
capital of Avanti Services Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales, which is a trading 
subsidiary of the charitable company. 
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15 Fixed asset investments  

 

 Holdings of more than 20%  

 The company holds more than 20% of the share capital of the following companies:  

 

 Company Country of registration or 
incorporation 

Shares held  

 Class %  

 Subsidiary undertakings  

 Avanti Services Limited UK Ordinary 100  

 Govinda's Limited UK Ordinary 100  

 

 The aggregate amount of capital and reserves and the results of these undertakings for the last 
relevant financial year were as follows: 

 

 

 Capital and 
reserves 

Profit/(loss) for the year  

 Principal activities £000 £000  

 

 Avanti Services Limited School services 267 267  

 Govinda's Limited School catering (10) 31  

 
      

16 Financial instruments  

 Company Company Group Group  

 2021 2020 2021 2020  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 

 Carrying amount of financial assets  

 - Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 

493 475 536 491 

 

 
           Carrying amount of financial liabilities  

 - Measured at amortised cost  (3,940) (2,013) (3,789) (2,067) 
 
          

17 Stocks  

 Company Company Group Group  

 2021 2020 2021 2020  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 

 Catering stock 1 - 20 14  
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18 Debtors  

 Company Company Group Group  

 2021 2020 2021 2020  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 

 Trade debtors 61 54 88 72  

 Amounts owed by group undertakings - 2 - -  

 Other debtors 432 419 448 419  

 Prepayments and accrued income 975 1,049 975 1,127  

 
           1,468 1,524 1,511 1,618  

 
          

19 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  

 Company Company Group Group  

 2021 2020 2021 2020  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 

 Other loans - - 8 -  

 Trade creditors 891 275 722 284  

 Other taxation and social security 199 190 406 350  

 Other creditors 943 213 965 219  

 Accruals and deferred income 3,343 2,558 3,339 2,597  

 
           5,376 3,236 5,440 3,450  

 
          

20 Deferred income - Group and Company  

 2021 2020  

 £000 £000  

 Deferred income is included within:  

 Creditors due within one year 1,237 1,033  

 
      

 Deferred income at 1 September 2020 1,033 678  

 Released from previous years  (1,033) (678) 

 Resources deferred in the year 1,237 1,033  

 
       Deferred income at 31 August 2021 1,237 1,033  

 
      

 Income received during the year specific to funding for future periods has been deferred accordingly. As at the 
balance sheet date the Academy Trust was holding funds received in advance for the year 2021/22 relating to 
Infant Free School Meals, educational trips, rates relief, catering and other revenue grants. 
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21 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  

 Company Company Group Group 

 2021 2020 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 Other loans - - 42 50 

 Other creditors 1,152 1,173 1,152 1,173 
 
          1,152 1,173 1,194 1,223 
 
         

 Company Company Group Group 

 2021 2020 2021 2020 

 Analysis of loans £000 £000 £000 £000 

 

 Not wholly repayable within five years by 
instalments - - - 10 

 Wholly repayable within five years - - 50 40 
 
          - - 50 50 

 Less: included in current liabilities - -  (8) - 
 
          Amounts included above - - 42 50 
 
         

 Loan maturity 

 Due in more than one year but not more than 
two years - - 12 20 

 Due in more than two years but not more than 
five years - - 30 20 

 Due in more than five years - - - 10 
 
          - - 42 50 
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22 Funds  

 

 Funds - Group  

 Balance at  Gains, Balance at  

 1 September  losses and 31 August  

 2020 Income Expenditure transfers 2021  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Restricted general funds  

 General Annual Grant (GAG) 3,124 23,006  (22,379) (104) 3,647  

 Start up grants - 359  (359) - -  

 UIFSM - 458  (458) - -  

 Pupil premium - 486  (486) - -  

 Teachers pension grants - 768  (768) - -  

 Teachers pay grants - 237  (237) - -  

 PE and sports premium - 147  (147) - -  

 Rates - 225  (225) - -  

 Other DfE / ESFA grants - 678  (678) - -  

 Other government grants - 1,484  (1,484) - -  

 Other restricted funds - 867  (867) - -  

 Pension reserve  (5,403) -  (1,167) (1,918) (8,488) 
 
             (2,279) 28,715  (29,255) (2,022) (4,841) 
 
             Restricted fixed asset funds  

  DfE group capital grants 859 2,460  (1,932) (42) 1,345  

 General fixed assets 75,724 -  (1,340) 146 74,530  

 
             76,583 2,460  (3,272) 104 75,875  

 
            

 Total restricted funds 74,304 31,175  (32,527) (1,918) 71,034  

 
             Unrestricted funds  

 General funds 1,484 737 - - 2,221  

 
            

 Total funds 75,788 31,912  (32,527) (1,918) 73,255  
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22 Funds 

 

 The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 
General funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the objects of the 
Academy Trust at the discretion of the Directors. 
 
Restricted fixed asset funds are resources that are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by the 
ESFA and DfE where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose. 
 
Restricted funds comprise all other restricted funds received and include grants from the ESFA and DfE. 
 
Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy Trust was not subject to a limit on the 
amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2021. 
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22 Funds  

 

 Funds - Group  

 

 Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows:  

 

 Balance at  Gains, Balance at  

 1 September  losses and 31 August  

 2019 Income Expenditure transfers 2020  

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Restricted general funds  

  General Annual Grant (GAG) 2,345 20,918  (19,861) (278) 3,124  

 Start up grants - 272  (272) - -  

 UIFSM - 494  (494) - -  

 Pupil premium - 477  (477) - -  

 Teachers pension grants - 165  (165) - -  

 Teachers pay grants - 74  (74) - -  

 PE and sports premium - 143  (143) - -  

 Rates - 203  (203) - -  

 Other DfE / ESFA grants - 1,731  (1,731) - -  

 Other government grants - 1,059  (1,059) - -  

 Other restricted funds - 892  (892) - -  

 Pension reserve  (2,265) (1,446) (995) (697) (5,403) 
 
             80 24,982  (26,366) (975) (2,279) 
 
             Restricted fixed asset funds  

 DfE group capital grants - 1,549  (599) (91) 859  

 General fixed assets 49,948 26,292  (885) 369 75,724  

 
             49,948 27,841  (1,484) 278 76,583  

 
            

 Total restricted funds 50,028 52,823  (27,850) (697) 74,304  

 
             Unrestricted funds  

  General funds 994 490 - - 1,484  

 
            

 Total funds 51,022 53,313  (27,850) (697) 75,788  

 
           



 

AVANTI SCHOOLS TRUST 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2021 

 

 

 
- 54 - 

22 Funds  

 

 Funds - Company  

 Balance at  Gains, Balance at  

 1 September  losses and 31 August  

 2020 Income Expenditure transfers 2021  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Restricted general funds  

 General Annual Grant (GAG) 3,124 23,006  (22,377) (106) 3,647  

 Start up grants - 359  (359) - -  

 UIFSM - 458  (458) - -  

 Pupil premium - 486  (486) - -  

 Teachers pension grants - 768  (768) - -  

 Teachers pay grants - 237  (237) - -  

 PE and sports premium - 147  (147) - -  

 Rates - 225  (225) - -  

 Other DfE / ESFA grants - 678  (678) - -  

 Other government grants - 1,484  (1,484) - -  

 Other restricted funds  (72) 867  (1,052) -  (257) 

 Pension reserve  (5,403) -  (1,167) (1,918) (8,488) 
 
             (2,351) 28,715  (29,438) (2,024) (5,098) 
 
             Restricted fixed asset funds  

  DfE group capital grants 859 2,460  (1,932) (42) 1,345  

 General fixed assets 75,722 -  (1,340) 148 74,530  

 
             76,581 2,460  (3,272) 106 75,875  

 
            

 Total restricted funds 74,230 31,175  (32,710) (1,918) 70,777  

 
             Unrestricted funds  

 General funds 1,484 737 - - 2,221  

 
            

 Total funds 75,714 31,912  (32,710) (1,918) 72,998  

 
            

 The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 
General funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the objects of the 
Academy Trust at the discretion of the Directors. 
 
Restricted fixed asset funds are resources that are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by the 
ESFA and DfE where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose. 
 
Restricted funds comprise all other restricted funds received and include grants from the ESFA and DfE. 
 
Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy Trust was not subject to a limit on the 
amount of GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2021. 
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22 Funds  

 

 Funds - Company  

 

 Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows:  

 

 Balance at  Gains, Balance at  

 1 September  losses and 31 August  

 2019 Income Expenditure transfers 2020  

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Restricted general funds  

 General Annual Grant (GAG) 2,345 20,918  (19,861) (278) 3,124  

 Start up grants - 272  (272) - -  

 UIFSM - 494  (494) - -  

 Pupil premium - 477  (477) - -  

 Teachers pension grants - 165  (165) - -  

 Teachers pay grants - 74  (74) - -  

 PE and sports premium - 143  (143) - -  

 Rates - 203  (203) - -  

 Other DfE / ESFA grants - 1,731  (1,731) - -  

 Other government grants - 1,059  (1,059) - -  

 Other restricted funds  (57) 877  (892) -  (72) 

 Pension reserve  (2,265) (1,446) (995) (697) (5,403) 
 
             23 24,967  (26,366) (975) (2,351) 
 
             Restricted fixed asset funds  

 DfE group capital grants - 1,549  (598) (92) 859  

 General fixed assets 49,945 26,292  (885) 370 75,722  

 
             49,945 27,841  (1,483) 278 76,581  

 
            

 Total restricted funds 49,968 52,808  (27,849) (697) 74,230  

 
             Unrestricted funds  

 General funds 994 490 - - 1,484  

 
            

 Total funds 50,962 53,298  (27,849) (697) 75,714  
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22 Funds  

 

 Total funds analysis by academy - Group  

 2021 2020  

 Fund balances at 31 August 2021 were allocated as follows: £000 £000  

 

 Avanti House Secondary School  - 1,010  

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (3)  - 28  

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (1)  - 927  

 Avanti Court Primary School  - 621  

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (2)  - 862  

 Avanti House Primary School  - 596  

 Avanti Fields School  - 204  

 Avanti Gardens School  - 164  

 Avanti Hall School  -  (745) 

 Avanti Park School  -  (142) 

 Central services  5,868 1,083  

 
       Total before fixed assets fund and pension reserve 5,868 4,608  

 

 Restricted fixed asset fund  75,875 76,583  

 Pension reserve  (8,488) (5,403) 
 
       Total funds 73,255 75,788  

 
      

 Total funds analysis by academy - Company  

 2021 2020  

 Fund balances at 31 August 2021 were allocated as follows: £000 £000  

 

 Avanti House Secondary School  - 1,010  

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (3)  - 28  

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (1)  - 927  

 Avanti Court Primary School  - 621  

 Krishna Avanti Primary School (2)  - 862  

 Avanti House Primary School  - 596  

 Avanti Fields School  - 204  

 Avanti Gardens School  - 164  

 Avanti Hall School  -  (745) 

 Avanti Park School  -  (142) 

 Central services  5,611 1,870  

 
       Total before fixed assets fund and pension reserve 5,611 5,395  

 

 Restricted fixed asset fund  75,875 75,722  

 Pension reserve  (8,488) (5,403) 
 
       Total funds 72,998 75,714  
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22 Funds  

 

 Total cost analysis by academy  

 

 Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows:  

 

 Teaching and  Other costs  

 educational Other support Educational excluding Total Total  

 support staff staff costs supplies depreciation 2021 2020  

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 

 Avanti House Secondary 
School 4,154 460 127 1,498 6,239 5,190 

 

 Krishna Avanti Primary 
School (3) 494 116 46 147 803 664 

 

 Krishna Avanti Primary 
School (1) 1,150 310 64 319 1,843 1,784 

 

 Avanti Court Primary 
School 2,243 406 85 308 3,042 3,043 

 

 Krishna Avanti Primary 
School (2) 1,457 323 84 235 2,099 1,989 

 

 Avanti House Primary 
School 1,392 127 68 525 2,112 1,979 

 

 Avanti Fields School 1,385 147 115 638 2,285 1,318  

 Avanti Gardens School 646 255 52 333 1,286 1,694  

 Avanti Hall School 1,469 512 132 376 2,489 3,014  

 Avanti Park School 1,504 383 71 338 2,296 2,380  

 Central services - 3,515 441 909 4,865 4,188  

 
               15,894 6,554 1,285 5,626 29,359 27,243  

 
              

23 Analysis of net assets between funds  

 

 Analysis of net assets between funds - Group  

 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  

 Funds General Fixed asset Funds  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Fund balances at 31 August 2021 are 
represented by: 

 

  Tangible fixed assets - - 74,530 74,530  

 Current assets 2,221 10,281 1,345 13,847  

 Creditors falling due within one year -  (5,440) -  (5,440) 

 Creditors falling due after one year -  (1,194) -  (1,194) 

 Defined benefit pension liability -  (8,488) -  (8,488) 
 
           Total net assets 2,221  (4,841) 75,875 73,255  
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23 Analysis of net assets between funds  

 

 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  

 Funds General Fixed asset Funds  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Fund balances at 31 August 2020 are 
represented by: 

 

 Tangible fixed assets - - 75,724 75,724  

 Current assets 1,484 8,656 - 10,140  

 Creditors falling due within one year 859  (4,309) -  (3,450) 

 Creditors falling due after one year -  (1,223) -  (1,223) 

 Defined benefit pension liability -  (5,403) -  (5,403) 
 
           Total net assets 2,343  (2,279) 75,724 75,788  

 
          

 Analysis of net assets between funds - Company  

 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  

 Funds General Fixed asset Funds  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Fund balances at 31 August 2021 are 
represented by: 

 

  Tangible fixed assets - - 74,530 74,530  

 Current assets 2,221 9,918 1,345 13,484  

 Creditors falling due within one year -  (5,376) -  (5,376) 

 Creditors falling due after one year -  (1,152) -  (1,152) 

 Defined benefit pension liability -  (8,488) -  (8,488) 
 
           Total net assets 2,221  (5,098) 75,875 72,998  

 
          

 Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total  

 Funds General Fixed asset Funds  

 £000 £000 £000 £000  

 Fund balances at 31 August 2020 are 
represented by: 

 

 Tangible fixed assets - - 75,722 75,722  

 Current assets 1,484 7,461 859 9,804  

 Creditors falling due within one year -  (3,236) -  (3,236) 

 Creditors falling due after one year -  (1,173) -  (1,173) 

 Defined benefit pension liability -  (5,403) -  (5,403) 
 
           Total net assets 1,484  (2,351) 76,581 75,714  
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24 Pension and similar obligations - Group and Company 

 

 The Academy Trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme 
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by seven different local authorities (Leicestershire County 
Council, London Borough of Harrow, London Borough of Redbridge, London Borough of Croydon, City of 
Bristol, Devon and Somerset. All are multi-employer defined benefit schemes. 
 
The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest 
actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2016, and that of the LGPS related to the 
period ended 31 March 2019. 
  

 Contributions amounting to £259k were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2021 (2020: £51k) and are 
included within creditors. 
  

 Teachers' Pension Scheme 

 

 Introduction 

 The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers in academies. All 
teachers have the option to opt out of the TPS following enrolment. 
  

 The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes contributions, as a 
percentage of salary. These contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension 
benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 
  

 Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 

 The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in 
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published 
by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial 
scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and 
many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016. The 
valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2019. 
  

 The key elements of the valuation and subsequent consultation are: 

• employer contribution rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% employer 
administration charge) 

• total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for 
service to the effective date of £218,100 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions 
together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £196,100 million giving a notional 
past service deficit of £22,000 million 

• the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The current 
SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of CPI. The assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of 
prices and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to be 2.2%. The 
assumed nominal rate of return including earnings growth is 4.45%. 

 

 The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2023. 
  

 The employer's pension costs paid to the TPS in the period amounted to £1,094k (2020: £897k). 
  

 A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website. 
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24 Pension and similar obligations - Group and Company 

 

 Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The 
Academy Trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. 
The Academy Trust has set out above the information available on the scheme. 
  

 Local Government Pension Scheme  

 

 The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered 
funds. The total contributions are as noted below. The agreed contribution rates for future years are % for 
employers and % for employees. 
 

  

 Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event 
of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the 
Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013. 
  

 Total contributions made  2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 

 Employer's contributions  751 693 

 Employees' contributions  241 237 
 
      Total contributions  992 930 
 
     

 Principal actuarial assumptions 2021 2020 

 % % 

 

 Rate of increase in salaries 3.6 2.9 

 Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation 2.9 2.2 

 Discount rate for scheme liabilities 1.7 1.7 

 Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.9 2.2 

 Commutation of pensions to lump sums 50 to 75 50 to 75 
 
     

 The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.  The 
assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 

  2021 2020 

 Years Years 

 Retiring today  

 - Males 22.4 22.4 

 - Females 24.3 24.5 

 Retiring in 20 years  

 - Males 23.6 23.2 

 - Females 26.1 25.7 
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24 Pension and similar obligations - Group and Company  

 

 Scheme liabilities would have been affected by changes in assumptions as follows: 
 

 

 

 2021 2020  

 £'000 £'000  

 Discount rate - 0.1%  507 1,794  

 Mortality assumption + 1 year  643 675  

 CPI rate + 0.1%  468 1,644  

 Salary rate + 0.1%  29 167  

 
      

 Defined benefit pension scheme net liability 2021 2020  

 £000 £000  

 

 Scheme assets  7,842 5,729  

 Scheme obligations  (16,330) (11,132) 
 
       Net liability  (8,488) (5,403) 
 
      

 The Academy Trust's share of the assets in the scheme 2021 2020  

 Fair value Fair value  

 £000 £000  

 

 Equities 5,396 4,059  

 Bonds 1,497 1,053  

 Cash 280 164  

 Property 669 453  

 
       Total market value of assets 7,842 5,729  

 
      

 The actual return on scheme assets was £1,181,000 (2020: £398,000).  

 

 Amount recognised in the statement of financial activities 2021 2020  

 £000 £000  

 

 Current service cost 1,795 1,618  

 Past service cost 27 -  

 Interest income  (106) (91) 

 Interest cost 202 161  

 
       Total operating charge 1,918 1,688  
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24 Pension and similar obligations - Group and Company  

 

 Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations 2021 2020  

 £000 £000  

 

 At 1 September 2020 11,132 5,773  

 Obligations acquired on conversion - 2,357  

 Current service cost 1,795 1,618  

 Interest cost 202 161  

 Employee contributions 241 237  

 Actuarial loss 2,993 1,004  

 Benefits paid  (60) (18) 

 Past service cost 27 -  

 
       At 31 August 2021 16,330 11,132  

 
      

 Changes in the fair value of the Academy Trust's share of scheme assets  

 2021 2020  

 £000 £000  

 

 At 1 September 2020 5,729 3,508  

 Assets acquired on conversion - 911  

 Interest income 106 91  

 Actuarial gain 1,075 307  

 Employer contributions 751 693  

 Employee contributions 241 237  

 Benefits paid  (60) (18) 
 
       At 31 August 2021 7,842 5,729  
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25 Reconciliation of net (expenditure)/income to net cash flow from operating activities  

 2021 2020  

 £000 £000  

 

 Net (expenditure)/income for the reporting period (as per the statement of 
financial activities) 

 

(615) 25,465 

 

 

 Adjusted for:  

 Net surplus on transfer of academy in the trust -  (24,984) 

 Capital grants from DfE and other capital income  (2,460) (1,549) 

 Investment income receivable  (1) (3) 

 Defined benefit pension costs less contributions payable 1,071 925  

 Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost 96 70  

 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 1,340 1,290  

 Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 14  

 (Increase) in stocks  (6) (5) 

 Decrease/(increase) in debtors 107  (509) 

 Increase in creditors 1,961 1,356  

 Stocks, debtors and creditors transferred on conversion -  (16) 
 
       Net cash provided by operating activities 1,493 2,054  

 
      

26 Analysis of changes in net funds  

 1 September 
2020 

Cash flows 31 August 
2021 

 

 £000 £000 £000  

 

 Cash 8,508 3,808 12,316  

 Loans falling due within one year -  (8) (8) 

 Loans falling due after more than one year  (50) 8  (42) 
 
         8,458 3,808 12,266  

 
        

27 Contingent liabilities - Group and Company  

 

 During the period of the Funding Agreement, in the event of the sale or disposal by other means of any asset 
for which a Government capital grant was received, the Academy Trust is required either to re-invest the 
proceeds or to repay to the Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families the same proportion of the 
proceeds of the sale or disposal as equates with the proportion of the original cost met by the Secretary of 
State. 
 
Upon termination of the Funding Agreement, whether as a result of the Secretary of State or the Academy 
Trust serving notice, the Academy Trust shall repay to the Secretary of State sums determined by reference 
to: 
 
· the value at that time of the Academy Trust's sites and premises and other assets held for the purpose of the 
Academy Trust; and 
 
· the extent to which expenditure incurred in providing those assets was met by payments by the Secretary of 
State under the Funding Agreement. 
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28 Long-term commitments, including operating leases - Group and Company 

 

 At 31 August 2021 the total of the Academy Trust's future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases was: 

 

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 

 Amounts due within one year 280 368 

 Amounts due in two and five years 1,105 1,110 

 Amounts due after five years 3,850 4,125 
 
      5,235 5,603 
 
     

29 Capital commitments 

 2021 2020 

 £000 £000 

 

 Expenditure contracted for but not provided in the accounts 44 - 
 
     

30 Related party transactions - Group and Company 

 

 Owing to the nature of the Academy Trust’s operations and the composition of the Board of Directors being 
drawn from local public and private sector organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in 
which the Academy Trust and/or its Directors have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations 
are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the requirements of the AFH and with the Academy 
Trust’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures relating to connected and related party 
transactions. 
 
The Academy Trust has taken advantage of the exemption available in Financial Reporting Standard 102 
Section 33 and not disclosed transactions with group entities within these financial statements. 
  

31 Post balance sheet events 

 

 On 1 September 2021, Avanti Meadows School opened as a new primary school and as a part of Avanti 
Schools Trust. 
  

32 Members' liability 

 

 Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of 
it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a member, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to 
be a member. 
  

33 Agency arrangements 

 

 The academy trust distributes 16-19 bursary funds to students as an agent for ESFA. In the accounting period 
ending 31 August 2021 the academy trust received £13k and disbursed £17k from the fund. An amount of £nil 
(2020: £4k) is in included in other creditors relating to undistributed funds that is repayable to ESFA. 
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34 Prior period adjustment  

 

 A prior period adjustment affected the figures reported for the comparative period for funds and net income 
or expenditure, as follows. 
 

 

 

 1 September 31 August 

 2019 2020 

  Reconciliation of funds Notes £000 £000 

 

 Funds as previously reported 51,022 74,929 
 

 Adjustments arising:  

 Release of capital grant income previously deferred  - 859 
 
      Funds as restated 51,022 75,788 
 
     

 2020 

 Reconciliation of net income for the previous financial period Notes  £000 

 

 Net income as previously reported  24,604 
 

 Adjustments arising:  

 Release of capital grant income previously deferred  859 
 
    Net income as restated 25,463 
 
   

 Notes to restatement 

 

 The financial statements have been restated to incorporate the release of unspent capital grant income that 
was previously included in the balance sheet at 31 August 2020 as deferred income, as required by the 
Academies Account Direction. 
  




